HEALTH SELECT COMMISSION Thursday 28 July 2022

Present were Councillors Yasseen (Chair), Andrews, Bird, A Carter, Cooksey, Griffin, Hoddinott, Havard, Thompson and Wooding.

Apologies were received from Cllrs Baum-Dixon, Barley, Elliott, Keenan, Miro, Sansome and from co-optee Mr. Robert Parkin of Speak Up.

The webcast of the Council Meeting can be viewed at:https://rotherham.public-i.tv/core/portal/home

12. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 30 JUNE 2022

Resolved:-

1. That the minutes of the meeting held on 30 June 2022 be approved as a true and correct record of the proceedings.

13. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

14. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC AND THE PRESS

The Chair confirmed that no questions had been submitted.

15. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

The Chair confirmed that there was no reason to exclude members of the press or public from observing any items of business on the agenda.

16. UPDATE FROM HEALTHWATCH ROTHERHAM

Consideration was given to an update from Healthwatch Rotherham presented by the Community Engagement Officer in respect of recent activities and inquiries received. 23 total inquiries had been received since the last update on a range of topics including the hospital, dental, GP practices, ambulance, adult social care, mental health, and 111 services. A survey on Long COVID had been completed, garnering 48 responses. The Let's Talk session on perinatal Mental Health had been successfully delivered to spread awareness of the support available through the Birth in Mind programme. Healthwatch Rotherham has also conducted inperson engagement campaigns throughout the Borough, speaking to people on hospital wards, visiting GP practices, etc.

In discussion, Healthwatch Rotherham was acknowledged for contribution to the scrutiny work programme in respect of oral health.

Resolved:-

1. That the update be noted.

17. ACCESS TO DENTAL CARE

Consideration was given to a report and presentation presented by NHS England. Background regarding dental commissioning was provided and information covering the full pathway of access to dental care through primary and secondary pathways. Information was also included around recommissioning of dental services. The Key Stakeholder Bulletin was referenced as a place this information is made available widely.

The presentation clarified that patients do not register for a dental practice. This is unlike the process for attending a GP which requires registration with a particular GP. Patients will be seen at a specific dental practice over a course of treatment, but the pandemic introduced significant difficulty, which was described. Details around national closures of dentistry practices for 3 months were provided. These closures were required by national instructions. From July 2022, GPs have been operating at 100% of activity. Infection control and national guidance have been limiting factors for dental provision.

Descriptions of services commissioned in Rotherham were provided, and an explanation of how NHS appointments are commissioned as units of dental care was also given, noting that current reforms are changing how dentists are paid to perform units of dental care. The NHS England representatives described pathways for LAC and foster carers to receive dental care.

The impact of the end of the Outbreak Management Fund in March included the end of access to out of hours and weekends NHS appointments. The extended access had provided between 400 and 600 additional appointments in Rotherham. It was noted that the remainder of the investment could not be used. It was observed that many people needing dental care had complex needs, and some practices had dropped off the list of flexible providers. The Oral Health Needs Assessment for dental is an ongoing piece of work. Existing funding would continue.

It was noted that commissioners were able to work with dental providers to use the unique skills mix of the practice with preventative measures performed by oral hygienists. This flexible approach to commissioning was outcome focused. Currently there was an expression of interest to expand wider in Rotherham. 100 practices had come forward to be part of the flexible commissioning scheme, which involves specific performance criteria and training in oral health prevention in collaboration with Health Education England and NHS England. More practices in Rotherham were expected to be added. Meanwhile, NHS England was working with Integrated Care Boards (ICBs) to help inform commissioning decisions.

NHS England representatives described the anticipated impact of the Health Equity Audit which would determine the equity of access and would lead to new commissioning decisions. A further review of services would take place ahead of the end of the contract next September, with findings coming forward and recommendations expected in autumn 2022.

It was noted that Rotherham care homes are reasonably well looked after, with one dental practice serving 16 of 34 care homes in Rotherham. A few dentists also do ad hoc work as needed for care home residents. Care levels differ.

It was observed that benchmarking for South Yorkshire fares well. The 19 July outcome of 2022/23 contract negotiations had ushered in a first stage of change to the contract which had previously been in place since 2006. Initial reforms address challenges in delivering care to high needs patients and improving access.

In discussion, members noted the rates of extraction among children had decreased. The response from the Chair of the dental network noted that the drop in extractions was due to children not accessing dental services rather than an improvement in children's oral health.

Members requested more information about prevention work in schools, children's centres and as part of parents' days. The response noted that oral health prevention would sit within the local authority. With the flexible commissioning, there is an element of prevention, and the money is allocated from the contract specifically to provide prevention schemes. Members expressed desire for NHS England to work more closely with the local authorities on prevention.

Members requested assurances that care home residents receive the right care despite not always being able to say if they have a problem. Members wanted to know about how practitioners know whether someone has a dental issue. Assurances were provided that a close relationship between the local authority and dentistry is maintained. It was the role of NHS England to commission. It was confirmed that people with dementia cannot explain when they are in pain. Often, people can experience more confusion because they are in pain. Practitioners can see if there is a problem when they are doing check-ups.

The Director of Public Health pointed out that 40% of adults and 30% of children were not getting NHS appointments currently. In view of this, assurances were requested that the commissioners knew where those people are, and that actions are being taken to improve access for these people. The response from commissioners indicated that dental practices accepted people who ring up; however, the waiting list may be 2000 people. There was a cohort of patients who have not seen the dentist in two to three years who have high treatment needs. The issue was that more work is needed now on patients who would have been seen every year or every few months.

Members highlighted the misconception that people have to register. Some dental practices seem to perpetuate the misconception by giving the impression that they are full. Assurances were requested around a plan of action to fix this, noting that the investment of £50 million was not spent which was very unfortunate. The response from commissioners noted that significant workforce challenges outweighed the monetary problems because the money could not be spent.

Members requested clarification of the investment in terms of the allocation for Rotherham. The unspent investment had been UK-wide, and could only be used for out of hours, weekend, or evening appointments. The combination of factors had contributed to the inability to spend including national shortage of nurses and dentists and high treatment needs. The adding of the extra hours had been a voluntary service.

Members requested more information as to reason for the lack of dentists and dental nurses. The response from commissioners identified causes including leaving the EU, when a number of Spanish, French, and Portuguese dentists and nurses were lost from the UK workforce. Furthermore, in some areas, insufficient numbers of dentists had been trained to sustain the needed workforce levels. High treatment needs were observed, but it had also been seen that people expect more. Whereas 30 years ago, people would go to the dentist only when they had a toothache, people now keep their natural teeth for longer which is associated with more care needs. Not enough resilience and not being able to spend the 50 million has shown that throwing money has not solved the problems or resolved challenges associated with units of dental activity. It was noted that during COVID-19, dentists were told what to do by government bodies, and they were pay protected.

Members requested clarification of whether dentists were paid during COVID-19 irrespective of provision levels. The response offered clarification that dentists were obligated to provide NHS work during the period. For example, whereas there routinely may have been 10 or 20 people in the waiting room ordinarily, during COVID-19, one patient waited outside. The masked patient was escorted into the building. The treatment was performed in full specialised Personal Protective Equipment (PPE,) and the surgery had to be left fallow for 30 minutes with specially installed air purification. This meant a 15-minute appointment would take half an hour. Less dental work took the full schedule of of hours.

It was observed that the 0-19 service recommends 5 contacts within first 5 years of life, and it was noted that cavities were already happening at that age for Rotherham children. It was noted that during health visits, opportunities may be missed that could be used to promote oral hygiene and dental health. Therefore, assurances were requested that a review would be undertaken to re-evaluate the service.

Further clarification was requested as to the shortfall of dentists in Rotherham and whether the outlook for recruitment is cause for concern. The response from commissioners noted that there was no upward trend to suggest recruitment rates would be picking up.

In response to requests from Members to receive the commissioners professional opinion of how the future looks for dentistry, the commissioners explained that in the current contract, dentists are limited by the NHS and are given so many numbers over which, if they take more patients, they will not be paid. In private dentistry, however, the dentist does only private work. A July request for an appointment related to a cavity will likely yield a September NHS appointment. If someone has a problem such as a toothache or uncontrollable bleeding, a patient can get an appointment, although travelling to the flexible commissioning location may be required. If the dentist is offering flexible commissioning, the person will be placed on the waiting list. The commissioners expressed sympathy and regret, noting that most dentists will try to see children and anyone in pain. It was acknowledged to be a real problem, which was expected to gradually ease as the COVID-19 crisis clears. It was down to the individual to decide whether to hold on for NHS treatment in their case.

Members averred the importance of early intervention with children, including very young children, and emphasised a joined-up prevention response. Members requested further assurances that the changes to the contract would address capacity issues. The response from commissioners noted that the new reforms would mean one pot of money for dentistry, and the reforms would help to facilitate dentists within the NHS. It was not known how much this would help access, as this was the first part of anticipated reforms. This part would adjust how dentists are remunerated and had been decided based on feedback from dentists. The reform was an attempt to make things fair for dentists, as currently they are paid the same amount for one filling or five fillings in terms of how much time they take. Recall systems will aim to adjust the expectations of needing to attend an appointment every six months where this is not required. There will still be a mix of staffing as part of flexible commissioning to find ways to increase access.

Members requested to know more information about any discussions of approaches to clearing backlogs, and whether special provision would be needed. Members expressed concerns that the reforms sound like with existina dentists. The contracts response from commissioners noted that the reforms would help high risk patients who need to be seen for longer because a practice will be able to take the time The cessation of nonrecurrent money suggested commissioners now needed to look at other areas to improve access, to examine and better understand waiting lists. Practices are currently focusing on urgent needs, and the reforms will enable them to focus on high needs patients.

Members requested further information around how people might be signposted to where there is NHS availability, given that most people do not know all the practices. The response noted that people seeking NHS availability can ring 111 to learn which practices are accepting new patients, but possibly new patients may spend time on a waiting list.

Members requested more information about how oral care had been provided in schools. It was noted that the Councils do check-ups in schools; there have been schemes in schools which have encountered a few problems with obtaining consent from parents. Schools generally do not want to get involved in oral care provision because of this need to obtain consent from parents or carers. Whilst difficult to get started, it could be looked at and is working in other areas. How oral hygiene education and treatments needs could be addressed in educational settings was an area that could be explored. Members recognised that dental care in schools is not without challenges, but it was observed that something must be done because there are real failures. The commissioners observed that there would need to be dentists available to go into schools, but there were not any readily available.

Members noted that whilst access to dental care was a national problem, Rotherham's situation was slightly worse than the national picture. Members requested assurances that a plan was in development to address the expanding cohort aged 85+ for the future. Members requested more information around the movement of some providers leaving NHS and going totally private. Assurances were requested that the reforms are not putting off dentists and trainees and are addressing the real problem. The response from commissioners noted that the new reforms are the first stage. There is only one pot of money for dentistry. The aim of these reforms is to make it more attractive to dentists to take on the high needs patients. Members noted that even if what is coming in the door is heart breaking, patients are sometimes being asked to go to practices far away that cost travel time and money to people in desperate need. Members emphasised the need to know where the areas of greatest deprivation are in making commissioning decisions.

Resolved:-

- 1. That the report be noted and that an update be received in 12 months' time, to include the outcomes of reviews for Homebound and Care Home residents as well as contract changes that affect provision of dental care to Rotherham Residents.
- 2. That consideration be given to expanding links with area schools to help children develop good dental habits from a young age.
- 3. That Early Help pathways prioritise dental health for inclusion in support offered to families with young children.

- 4. That future updates around flexible commissioning arrangements show how these have taken into account the need for access in the most deprived areas of the Borough in order to tackle health inequality in dental provision.
- 5. That a review be undertaken in respect of place-based strategic approaches to improve oral health among vulnerable Rotherham residents, including children and older people.

18. CARERS STRATEGY AND YOUNG CARERS

Consideration was given to a report providing an update on the progress made against the Carers Strategic Framework. Following endorsement from the Health and Wellbeing Board in January 2022, various activities had been undertaken by the Council and by third sector organisations in line with the outlined strategic framework. The report and presentation identified the important role of unpaid Carers in the Borough and identified the challenges Carers face. Therefore, the Carers Strategy had been developed in partnership with colleagues across the Council, Health and the voluntary sector.

The Strategic Framework set out a vision for working with and supporting Carers, it also provided an action-focused road map for how the Place will achieve the changes directly with carers. Delivery of the actions over the next three years was described, along with the vision to continue to put Carers at the heart of the process through their direct involvement in the Borough That Cares Strategic Group.

The report also included an update in respect of the developing support offer for Young Carers. This included the Cabinet response to the recommendations from the scrutiny review of support for Young Carers. Developments in response to the recommendations were described.

In discussion, Members requested clarification of how waiting lists developed and how they are being addressed. The response from officers noted the recruitment and expansion of staff hours to be able to pick up the cases. Workforce details were provided as to how the additional hours were to be achieved in order to reduce the waiting list. Officers averred that the waiting list had resulted from difficulty closing cases during the pandemic when there was less frequent contact with the Young Carers. It was noted that the contact did not stop, but less face-to-face contact was possible. As the work involves a vulnerable cohort, the service does not close cases without having full completion of work including these necessary contacts. It was noted that a close eye is kept on the service to ensure there is resource to meet the demand. It was noted that the additional non-recurrent funding was put in place to enable the expansion of hours and training that the Barnardo's team have undertaken. The Quarter 1 reports indicated 15 more children have been allocated. A significant number of referrals were still being seen.

Members requested clarification around timelines involved in the case study. The dates of the timeline were not known but the duration of involvement was 18 months. The wait time was 3 months, which is typical. One of the service goals was to raise awareness although greater awareness led to more referrals. This was true across all services. The case study provided information about training, education and skills, but a quantity of info had to be taken out of the case study to make it publishable to the public.

Appreciation for development of the service offer was expressed. Members also expressed interest in the sustainment of the service and requested further details in respect of challenges associated with recruiting based on non-recurrent funding. The response from officers and partners noted that recurrent funding is in place. Up until the Quarter 1 report, the numbers were as anticipated, but the referral rate had gone up slightly. There were not currently additional lines of funding for expansion; therefore, if the upward trend continued, the service would develop an appropriate response to support Young Carers.

Members requested further assurances around the trajectory of the waiting list in view of the high numbers in some wards. Assurances were requested around the plans of the service around anticipated figures. The support needs of the service were identified and preventative practices described.

As primary care practitioners were going into the community, examples were requested around effective ways by which young carers had been identified and referrals made. The response from officers noted that the Rotherham community resource information is collected and made available as a pack in GP practices. Members noted that this would be an area for development, with the knowledge that Carers are not a homogenous group. Many carers are not young nor are they older; a middle group also exists which can sometimes be a gap in the offer.

Members noted the importance of a dedicated venue for support and the importance of enabling Young Carers to experience childhood. The response from officers noted the importance of examining venues and colleagues were looking at face to face venues as a place to go to have conversations when they are needed. There was also a desire to consider venues around the Borough. Other Boroughs had a Carer Card, which needs to be considered for implementation in Rotherham. Partners agreed that it would be ideal to have a Carer Card for free access to leisure, as this would help facilitate their social networks and a break from caring responsibilities. Barnardo's also support children to join civic organisations.

Members noted the need for a presence of Young Carers voice in the report, and that results of consultations could demonstrate what Young Carers are saying about their experience and their needs.

Members noted that the emergency respite care was of major importance to Carers and had been difficult to commission. The response from officers noted that House of Commons Health and Social Care Select Committee had recently presented findings in respect of workforce pressures in Health and Social Care. It was noted that pay progression and status made it difficult to recruit new talent into the care sector across all facets including our own Council services. An honest appraisal suggests there was a widespread workforce shortage which made these challenges very difficult to solve. The service had requested assistance from health partners in meeting the need.

Resolved:-

- 1. That the report be noted, and that an update be received at the appropriate time to feed into the refresh of the Carers strategy.
- 2. That the refreshed strategy take into account the feedback from Carers to refine and improve the support offer.
- 3. That consideration be given to how best to ensure the refreshed strategy includes provision for urgent respite care.
- 4. That future reports in respect of Young Carers include strong evidence of co-production and assurances that the perspectives of Young Carers are being heard.
- 5. That the service prioritise provision of access to leisure and culture activities for respite for Young Carers.

19. REPRESENTATIVE TO THE HEALTH, WELFARE AND SAFETY PANEL

There were no volunteers or nominations.

Resolved:-

1. That nominations be received at the next meeting.

20. REVISED WORK PROGRAMME

Consideration was given to an updated outline work programme. Scope of upcoming items was highlighted.

Resolved:-

- 1. That the updated outline work programme be noted.
- 2. That the governance advisor be authorised to make changes to the work programme in consultation with the Chair/Vice Chair and reporting any changes back at the next meeting for endorsement.

21. URGENT BUSINESS

There were no urgent items requiring a decision at the meeting.

22. DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING

Resolved:-

1. That the next scheduled meeting be held on 29 September 2022, commencing at 5pm in Rotherham Town Hall.